1957

State of Utah v. Barton Kay Kirkham : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The defendant and appellant will be referred to as defendant. The plaintiff and respondent will be referred to as the State. All italics are ours.

The complaint charging defendant with the crime of murder in the first degree was filed on August 13, 1956. The preliminary hearing was held on August 22, 1956 and defendant was bound over to the Third Judicial District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah. (R. 2, 3). In the District Court defendant entered a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity (R. 50). The case was tried before the Honorable Martin M. Larson, Judge, commencing on the 12th day of December, A.D. 1956 and at the conclusion of the case, after two and one-half

hours of deliberation, the jury returned a verdict of guilty of murder in the first degree without recommending leniency (R. 267). Thereafter, an appeal was perfected to this Court (R. 275, 276).

THE FACTS

The facts pertaining to the killing of David Avon Frame are largely undisputed. Briefly, they reveal that on the night of August 11, 1956, at approximately 11:30 P.M. the defendant Barton Kay Kirkham entered a grocery store known as Nibley Park Market located on the north east corner of 27th South and 5th East Street in Salt Lake County, Utah, and while in the commission of an armed robbery required David Avon Frame and Ruth Holmes Webster to lay face downward on the floor in the back of the store and shot and killed them (R. 60, 61). Events of the evening leading up to the robbery and killing were as follows: The defendant had met a friend Sterle Pierce, in the lobby of the Hotel Utah where Pierce worked. Defendant was wearing certain clothing which he had worn in a robbery at Pueblo, Colorado. He had previously informed Pierce he would wear said clothing again if he ever performed another holdup (R. 33). After leaving the hotel, defendant drove aimlessly around town and at approximately 11 o'clock P.M. encountered a group of young men in another automobile. He followed the automobile for some distance until the young men pulled over to the curb and stopped. Defendant drove up alongside and said "You fellows looking for a beef?" He had a gun in his hand (R. 47).

One of the boys asked him if the gun was loaded and in response he ejected a shell (R. 47). One of the young men testified that he “made us nervous and wondered about him” and, “Well, his words were quite — well, not right; I’ll put it that way; for the circumstances, it didn’t seem right” (R. 52, 57). As defendant was driving away the boys took his license number and reported the incident to the Police (R. 52).

Following the robbery and killing, as defendant was driving away he inadvertently shot a hole in his windshield. Thereafter he abandoned the automobile and next appeared shortly after midnight at the home of a Mrs. Bonnie Christean. He brandished the gun in her face and told her that he had just shot two people (R. 91, 92). He asked if Mrs. Christean had an automobile. She informed him her son, Arthur, had an automobile and would return home shortly (R. 92). Before the son arrived her daughter, Shawna, came home from a date. He required Mrs. Christean and Shawna to remain in his presence until Arthur arrived (R. 95). During the waiting period he told the Christeans that he had been an inmate of a Colorado prison (R. 95). When the son arrived, defendant ordered the son and daughter to get in the automobile. He told Mrs. Christean he would kill them both if she called the police. The Christeans at no time crossed defendant or offered any resistance to his instructions (R. 98, 105). Arthur drove the automobile and Shawna rode in the front seat while defendant rode in the back seat with his gun pointed at their heads.

Arthur talked quietly to him as they proceeded south toward Provo, Utah. At one point defendant stopped and purchased five dollars worth of gas. Defendant had Arthur turn the radio on and commented "that they didn't have the guts to put it on the radio." He also said he had killed two people, that "the woman had been hysterical and the man had tried to play hero" (R. 104). Eventually, defendant directed Arthur from the main highway up Provo canyon for a distance where he ordered Arthur to stop and get out of the automobile and start walking. Arthur obeyed. He fired a shot over Arthur's head and told Shawna "That is just to show you I am not fooling around" (R. 106). Defendant then ordered Shawna to drive the automobile. She was alone with the defendant for approximately an hour and a half (R. 106). During this time she did not attempt to argue or remonstrate with the defendant about anything but was submissive to him (R. 112). A short time thereafter, defendant and Shawna drove out of the canyon and defendant voluntarily gave himself up to the police. Deputy Sheriff Reed L. Rigtrup, who brought the defendant to Salt Lake, testified that defendant said he did it for an anniversary celebration which should have happened a week later, but "that things came up suitable for it and I did the job that night." Officer Hunsaker testified that at no time did defendant show any remorse or shame, that he almost enjoyed telling the story (R. 139). His father testified that at the city jail after the shooting, defendant demonstrated no remorse or feeling of guilt or sorrow (R. 180).

While incarcerated at the Salt Lake County jail awaiting trial, at the instance of the Court, defendant was given a psychiatric examination by Dr. Clarence Craig Nelson, a licensed medical doctor and psychiatrist. The examination was made jointly with Dr. Gordon Johnson who did not testify (R. 148). Dr. Nelson testified that mental and emotional disorders fall into four groups, first, psychotic reactions; second, character disorders; third, psychosomatic disorders; fourth, psycho-neurotic disorders (R. 142). He testified that when any one of the four above-mentioned types of disorders are of a serious nature, such condition can be readily determined by a psychiatric examination (R. 143). He further testified that character disorders ordinarily develop in childhood and that when such disorder is of a severe type, the individual suffering therefrom will feel no remorse or guilt over things that he does (R. 147). This condition is termed an emotional or mental illness. In this connection he testified "Q. Would you speak of a severe character disorder as a mental illness? A. Yes." Dr. Nelson emphasized the fact that defendant "demonstrated no remorse" in describing the crime and that his comment was that he "wasn't going to risk his neck over such a paltry sum" (R. 149).

He stated that defendant was suffering from a mental illness consisting of a character disorder of the severest type (R. 150). He testified that there are forms of treatment recognized for this condition and that without treatment said condition would never change except

for the worse (R. 150, 151, 156). Dr. Nelson also testified that considering the type of character disorder and mental illness defendant was suffering from, he would not expect defendant to have a feeling of ~~some~~^{shame} or remorse over commission of the crime (R. 158). He testified that a person suffering from this type of mental illness, when an obstacle is placed in his path, will usually respond with some anti-social reaction (R. 158). On redirect examination the following questions were asked:

“Q. Now, counsel has also asked you some questions concerning the patient’s ability to distinguish or to determine right from wrong; I will ask you whether that ability, in view of his lack of conscience — lack of remorse — is the ability which the normal person possesses.

A. From *strictly a thinking point of view*, the ability would have to be thought of as the same. It would be done on the basis of his knowledge of right or wrong, and not on the basis of a conscience or automatic control.

Q. From the point of view of his own justification within himself of his own actions, what would you say?

* * *

A. Well, he would feel that he was — though he knew this was wrong — *he would feel, under his way of viewing it, it was justified, in my opinion*” (R. 168, 169).

There was an abundance of lay testimony to substantiate Dr. Nelson's diagnosis of mental illness. Barton Kay Kirkham was the oldest child in a family of five (R. 171). As a very young child he displayed a lack of emotion. His father testified that when he was 6 or 7 he would not cry when he was spanked (R. 172). His mother testified that as a child defendant had no remorse or feeling of guilt about anything. He undertook school lessons with the utmost reluctance and frequently sluffed. "He just couldn't stand to have people talk to him and tell him what to do" (R. 172). When he quit high school, the excuse he gave his father was that he couldn't stand the "yakkety yak" (R. 173). He tried several different jobs and also spent a short time in a vocational school with mediocre success (R. 173). Thereafter, he enlisted in the Army Air Corps, first undergoing basic training at San Antonio, Texas, and then being assigned to the Mountain Home Air Base, Idaho (R. 174). While at Mountain Home he was given a temporary assignment to England. In England he met a girl. After returning to Mountain Home he asked his father and mother to make arrangements to bring the girl to the United States. They put him off and this caused him to go AWOL (R. 175, 186). He proceeded by bus to Pueblo, Colorado, and purchased a gun from a pawn shop and stole an automobile at gunpoint. He was almost immediately apprehended and spent a number of months at the Buena Vista, Colorado, reformatory. This was his only criminal record prior to the offense here involved. His parents visited him at the reformatory. He had abso-

lutely no remorse or shame for his conduct (R. 175). Following his release from Buena Vista on probation, and a dishonorable discharge from the Army, he returned to Salt Lake City to live with his parents (R. 177). He arrived June 1, 1956. From that date until August 11, 1956, the date of the robbery and killing, a number of abnormalities were noticed by his parents. He was highly agitated and easily excited. He would go to extremes in his voice, sometimes shouting tremendously at the other children (R. 177). On occasions he would come up behind one of the children, grab the child and give "a tremendous shout, scaring everybody" (R. 177). There was no humor attached to this conduct. He was suffering from a severe abscess on the end of the spine which caused him constant irritation and pain (R. 177). In addition, he was suffering from a number of cavities in his teeth (R. 178).

His mother observed that he wasn't adjusting to home life and discussed the need for psychiatric care with the family doctor, Stanley Neff, who was taking care of the cyst on defendant's spine (R. 189).

A short time prior to the robbery and killing, defendant had met a Salt Lake girl and after going with her for a period of time had told her about his criminal record. Thereafter, she refused to have anything to do with him and this disappointment caused him to become very morose and restless (R. 191, 192).

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 9 WHEREIN IT ADVISED THE JURY THAT THE TEST OF INSANITY WAS WHETHER DEFENDANT DID NOT KNOW HIS ACT WAS WRONG IN THE SENSE THAT SUCH ACT WAS CONDEMNED BY MORALS OR LAW.

POINT II

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 3.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN ITS INSTRUCTION NO. 9 WHEREIN IT ADVISED THE JURY THAT THE TEST OF INSANITY WAS WHETHER DEFENDANT DID NOT KNOW HIS ACT WAS WRONG IN THE SENSE THAT SUCH ACT WAS CONDEMNED BY MORALS OR LAW.

A portion of Instruction No. 9 reads as follows:

Instruction No. 9

“Insanity is an element in determining questions of guilt of, or punishment for crime only when it renders the person so affected irresponsible or partly irresponsible, that is the defendant cannot be convicted of a crime, if, at the time of the act he was insane to such an extent that he did not know the nature of the act; that is did not know he had a revolver, that it may be loaded or that, if discharged, it may injure or kill; or that when he fired the shot, he did not know it was

wrong, in the sense that such act was condemned by morals *or* law; or that he was unable, by reason of mental disease, to control his actions or impulses to injure or kill David Avon Frame."

Counsel for defendant took exception to the foregoing portion of Instruction No. 9 and called attention to the error contained therein where he stated as follows at Record 240: "The foregoing quoted portion of the instruction carries with it the implication that, if defendant was aware of the definition of murder, and of the fact that there was a law against murder and robbery, * * * he could not be insane, even though, although knowing the definitions of those offenses and the fact that there were laws against them, within his own mind, he was convinced that the acts he was performing were justified and proper.

It is our position that, if he felt the acts were justified and proper, and had no remorse for them, then, by necessary implication, he would not have sufficient knowledge of the rightness or wrongness of his actions to be legally sane."

Where the trial court used the term "in the sense that such act was condemned by morals *or* law," it clearly instructed the jury that even though defendant's sense of morals was so perverted and distorted that he felt justified in doing the act which he did and had no remorse for doing said act, nevertheless if he had sufficient intellect to know that the law forbid said act, he was legally sane. That such instruction is incorrect as an

abstract proposition of law will be clearly pointed out by the authorities hereinafter cited. That said error was prejudicial to the defendant becomes clear when viewed in the light of the facts.

An eighteen year old boy in commission of an armed robbery lays two people on the floor and shoots them. He harbors no ill will against them. In fact, he has never seen them before. No real or apparent necessity of self defense requires the killing. No motive for the robbery exists except that the robbery is an anniversary celebration for a similar rash and nonsensical act that occurred a year before, and no motive for the killing is suggested except his statement to Dr. Nelson that he wasn't going to risk his neck over such a paltry sum. Yet Dr. Nelson testified that defendant felt perfectly justified within himself in committing the killings and that in his opinion defendant *genuinely* experienced no remorse for his action (R. 168, 169). The testimony of the police officers and defendant's parents substantiated the fact that defendant was so utterly incapable of understanding the moral implications of his conduct that he suffered no remorse or conscience whatsoever. The trial court removed this whole body of both medical and lay testimony from the consideration of the jury where it instructed in effect that the sole and only requirement of legal sanity was that defendant have sufficient mentality to know that his act was against the law.

The origin of the right and wrong test for determining legal sanity is the old *M'Naghten's Case*, (1843),

10 Clark & F, 200. A part of the M’Naghten opinion applicable here reads as follows:

“Lord Chief Justice Tindal in his charge: ‘The question to be determined is, whether at the time the act in question was committed, the prisoner had or had not the use of his understanding, so as to know that he was doing a wrong or wicked act. If the jurors should be of opinion that the prisoner was not sensible, at the time he committed it, that he was violating the laws *both* of God and man, then he would be entitled to a verdict in his favor; but if, on the contrary, they were of opinion that when he committed the act he was in a sound state of mind, then their verdict must be against him.’ ”

A most scholarly discussion of M’Naghten’s rule and the necessity of moral responsibility in application of the right and wrong test is to be found in the case of *People vs. Schmidt*, 216 N.Y. 324, 110 N.E. 945 (decided November 23, 1915). In the Schmidt case defendant was accused of killing a woman and dismembering her body. He confessed to the killing but entered a plea of not guilty by reason of insanity. He told the physicians who examined him that he had heard the voice of God calling upon him to kill the woman as a sacrifice and atonement and that he had committed the killing in the visible presence of God. The jury found him guilty of murder in the first degree. Thereafter, in a motion for new trial, his counsel filed his affidavit stating that his story pertaining to heavenly visitations was a sham, that the woman had actually died from a criminal operation, that

her body had been dismembered and he had told a false story in order to conceal the illegal operation. The court, speaking through Mr. Justice Cardozo, found that certain instructions pertaining to the test of legal insanity were error but that in view of the fact that defendant had now conceded that the defense of insanity was without merit, defendant was in no position to complain of the error on appeal. Justice Cordozo stated:

“The learned trial judge said to the jury that ‘wrong’ in this definition means ‘contrary to the law of the state.’ The jury was instructed in pointed and impressive terms, that even if the defendant believed in good faith that God had appeared to him and commanded the sacrifice of Anna Aamuller, and this belief was a delusion, the result of a defect of reason, the defendant must none the less answer to the law if he knew the nature and quality of the act, and knew that it was wrong, in the sense that it was forbidden by the law of the state.”

* * *

“We are unable to accept the view that the word ‘wrong’ in the statutory definition is to receive so narrow a construction.”

Justice Cordozo then outlined the history of the right and wrong test. In discussing the M’Naghten case, he stated:

“The definition here propounded is the one that has been carried forward into our statute. The judges expressly held that a defendant who knew nothing of the law would none the less be responsible if he knew that the act was wrong, by

which, therefore, they must have meant, if he knew that it was morally wrong. Whether he would also be responsible if he knew that it was against the law, but did not know it to be morally wrong, is a question that was not considered. In most cases, of course, knowledge that an act is illegal will justify the inference of knowledge that it is wrong. *But none the less it is the knowledge of wrong, conceived of as moral wrong, that seems to have been established by that decision as the controlling test.* That must certainly have been the test under the older law when the capacity to distinguish between right and wrong imported a capacity to distinguish between good and evil as abstract qualities. There is nothing to justify the belief that the words ‘right and wrong,’ when they became limited by M’Naghten’s Case to the right and wrong of the particular act, cast off their meaning as terms of morals, and became terms of pure legality.”

The court continues:

“We have still another guide to help us to a sound construction of M’Naughten’s Case and of the statutory rule derived from it. That guide is found in the practice of judges by whom the decision has been applied. We refer to a few instances among many. In *Reg. v. Townley*, 3 Fost. & F. 839, Martin, B., left it to the jury to say whether the prisoner knew that the act was ‘contrary to the law of God and punishable by the law of the land.’ In *Reg. v. Layton*, 4 Cox, C.C. 149, Rolfe, B., said that the jury must determine whether the prisoner’s delusion ‘had the effect of making him incapable of understanding the wickedness of murdering his wife.’ See also

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