1957

State of Utah v. Barton Kay Kirkham : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

“* * * The * * * instruction is a concise and correct statement of law applicable to the case in hand. *State v. Green* * * *.”
[*State v. Green*, 86 U. 192, 40 P. 2d 961.]

The rule as laid down by the Court in the M’Naghten case has been widely adopted and is, we think, the established law of this jurisdiction. *State v. Green* (both cases), supra; 45 ALR 2d at 1452-3. This Court has recognized both of the tests laid down by M’Naghten’s case, and has held that a person is not criminally responsible where he does not know the nature and quality of his act as well as not knowing right from wrong. *State v. Brown*, 36 U. 46, 102 P. 641; *State v. Green*, supra. This Court has also recognized the “irresistible impulse” modification of the M’Naghten rule. *State v. Green*, supra. Your appellant now asks this Honorable Court to further revise the rule by

adopting the minority views expressed in *People v. Schmidt*, 216 N. Y. 324, 110 N. E. 945, L. R. A. 1916D 519, Ann. Cas. 1916A 978; i. e., the view that the wrong contemplated by the M'Naghten test is moral but not legal wrong. Or, in the alternative, we opine, seek to have the Court declare that a defendant must [to be criminally responsible] know that the act complained of was legally *and* morally wrong. We think the rule best left as it is; that the jury's inquiry of the defendant should be, first, was the act committed wrong by the law of the land; second, did the defendant know the nature and quality of his act so as to be criminally responsible therefor, recognizing and applying the "irresistible impulse" test to the latter inquiry. Instruction No. 9 is clear and concise as to these tests; if a defendant be so insane that he does not know his act to be against law, then he cannot be criminally responsible and his moral outlook becomes as nothing. Legal insanity is a disorder of intellect. Moral insanity is a disorder of the feelings and propensities. The first is a defense, the second an excuse, a reason for wrongdoing, nothing more. To rationalize otherwise would be to sanction such crimes as polygamy as well as murder and make enforcement of law dependent upon individual moral concept.

May we say, not facetiously, that in giving full weight to all of the Court's instructions the jurors took little notice of the "or", used in place of the "and" between the words "moral" and "law" in Instruction No. 9. The word "or" is frequently misused. (Blacks Law Dictionary, Fourth Edition.) The jury found your appellant capable of distinguishing between right and wrong with reference to the particu-

lar act complained of and the rules governing the insanity defense in this jurisdiction.

POINT II.

THE COURT DID NOT ERR IN REFUSING TO GIVE DEFENDANT'S REQUESTED INSTRUCTION NO. 3.

Your appellant requested of the Court the following instruction :

"INSTRUCTION NO. 3

"The State of Utah has a mental hospital where patients who are suffering from mental illness may be incarcerated and treated for such time as is considered by a court of competent jurisdiction to be necessary."

The requested instruction was not predicated on or applicable to the issues presented by the pleadings and the evidence and therefore it was erroneous and properly refused. *State v. Dubois*, (Utah) 98 P. 2d 354; *State v. Marasco*, 17 P. 2d 919, 81 Utah 325; *State v. Anderson*, 100 Utah 468, 116 P. 2d 968; *State v. Thompson*, 110 Utah 113, 170 P. 2d 153; *State v. BeBee*, 110 Utah 484, 175 P. 2d 478; see also 23 *C. J. S. Criminal Law*, Sec. 1310, page 902, and supplement. In *State v. Thompson*, supra, this Court said :

"We have repeatedly criticized the giving of abstract statements of the law to the jury, and held that it is the duty of the court to apply the law to the facts supported by the evidence and to not in-

struct on any question which is not involved in the case under the evidence.”

[Utah authorities there cited.]

In *State v. Riggle*, Wyo. 1956, *supra*, it was held that the power of the Board of Pardons was not pertinent to the issues and that it was proper not to instruct the jury thereon. We see an analogy.

Appellant claims for his requested instruction under authority of 64-7-36 (Subsection G), U. C. A. 1953, this statute is not for application in a criminal cause; where a verdict is returned of not guilty by reason of insanity the Court proceeds and makes its determination under 77-24-14, Code of Criminal Procedure, U. C. A. 1953. Be that as it may, your appellant appears to concede that there was no admitted evidence pertaining to incarceration for insanity or discharge of the defendant upon return of a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity. Of the District Attorney's statement they say:

“* * * It was not founded on any evidence introduced by either party. * * *”

(Appellant's brief, p. 25.)

If so the above authorities, cited for the rule that the instruction was properly refused for want of applicability to the issues presented by the evidence, are controlling.

Appellant's argument under Point II of his brief concerns itself more pointedly to the conduct and remarks of the District Attorney than to the contended error of the Court in refusing the requested instruction. We are not

prepared to say that the contention raised for appellant is not without merit; we find ourselves concerned over the propriety of the remarks complained of, however, we here claim, upon the record, for *no prejudicial error*. If, as appellant contends, it was in fact anticipated by counsel that the District Attorney might claim that a verdict of not guilty by reason of insanity would result in the defendant being “turned loose” it might have been best had they consulted the Court prior to arguments as to their concern. An objection to the initial remark concerning the subject matter would also have been proper. Factually, however, it would seem that counsel for the defendant “wielded the shield into a sword” and therewith struck many telling blows for the defense. Appellant complains of the District Attorney as follows:

“The District Attorney did in fact state in his opening argument to the jury: ‘Should you acquit him, he would be turned loose’ (R. 204). Again in his rebuttle argument Mr. Anderson belabored at great length the proposition that defendant would be turned loose if found not guilty by reason of insanity” (R. 231, 232).

(Appellant’s brief, p. 25.)

For what the District Attorney uttered we turn to the record, opening argument:

“* * * It seems to me that the essence of this case is found in what we see in the testimony of the doctor, when he said every man who commits a killing or a murder—every man is—either does it because of neurosis, psychosis—which is a mental disease of one sort or another—or psychopathic personality, which is not insanity—which is a character disorder.

“And the defendant in this case is not one of the first two groups and would not be hospitalized, according to the report which the doctor returned. Should you acquit him, he would be turned loose.
* * *” (Tr. 204).

Closing argument:

“* * * Counsel has accused me of misleading you, and I refer now to the instructions, so that I may make no mistake and may correct any misimpression which they may have left with you.

“Defense said they don’t want to turn this boy loose on society, and they have said I have misled you; and nothing is farther from the truth, if, by a verdict of not guilty, you are led to believe that he may go free.

“The doctor here who has examined him has said that, in his examination which took place after this incident—counsel queried him and asked him if his examination did not include a consideration of the events of this night, and he said it did. The doctor went on to say that hospitalization at this time is not indicated, and I think that was his response in the report to the court.

“You interpret that—and you have the right; you have heard him. What is your conclusion? If it isn’t hospitalization on a plea—or on a verdict of not guilty—what is it? Where would you stand?

“Then, consider next with regard to this question of insanity; counsel says, ‘We are not asking you to turn him loose on society.’ That was Mr. Duncan, but, then, Mr. Black gets up and he argues Instruction No. 10 to you, which says that the defendant—legal insanity is—‘the test in determining legal insanity is not whether the defendant, at the time of committing the offense, knew what he was doing, but whether the defendant was in such mental

condition as to be able to distinguish between right and wrong in reference to the particular act complained of.

“ ‘In this connection, you are instructed that the State of Utah has the burden of proving to your minds beyond all reasonable doubt that defendant was sane at the time of killing David Avon Frame, and, if the State has failed to sustain this burden, you must find defendant not guilty by reason of insanity.’

“If he was legally insane, as they seem to be arguing with you, in support of the plea of ‘not guilty by reason of insanity,’ if Mr. Black wants you to believe that this is insanity, as he so positively declares the doctor said, aren’t they, then, asking you for a verdict of not guilty? If they ask you not to turn him loose on society, they are asking you for a verdict other than not guilty, and, if they are asking you for a verdict other than not guilty, then they don’t believe themselves—their argument on legal insanity—and, furthermore, the doctor did not say that this man was legally insane. He said that there are three categories into which a murderer falls, and he repeated them—psychosis, neurosis, or psychopathic personality; and the defendant is neither or the first two; the defendant is the third; and, with respect to the third, he said every murder in cold blood, and murder, except police and military in war, is abnormal.

“The cold-blooded murder is an abnormal act, and that every criminal, generally speaking, may be classified as either ‘moderate’ or ‘severe’ character disorder. Are we to excuse them all, then, because they have character disorder? Is that the purport of the defense? He said, even they would not turn the defendant free. * * *

(Tr. 231, 232, 233.)

Counsel for the defense countered the above arguments as follows:

LaMar Duncan, Esq.:

“* * * Might I say, right in the beginning, that we are not interested in—in any way, in your releasing this boy on society. Mr. Black and I, right from the beginning, have been very frank; we have been very open with His Honor and with you. We have not withheld anything, and we haven’t tried to tell you anything that wasn’t so. We have been just as fair as we know how in the defense of this young boy.

“Now, where are these sources that come to make up this boy’s thinking?

“And, while counsel is talking about ‘justice,’ I want to tell you that he misled you; that that man told you something that wasn’t true. He told you that the doctor here—and the doctor was fair, he was called by both sides. He did say—and I submit to you the record—ladies and gentlemen of the jury, he did say that a character disorder was a mental disorder. He wants to categorize in some sort of way so he can get over this thing.

“He is just blood-thirsty; that is all he has got in mind. I have practiced law for over twenty-three years, and I have never seen a prosecutor that would deliberately go out of his way to try to mislead. That was a deliberate attempt to mislead you, and I think you all got it. I think you heard what that doctor said; that doctor went into great detail, and this is what he said:

“He said a person with this kind of mind, he would feel in his own way that he was justified in what he did. He said he would have a build-up inside of him—a tension—that was built up, and, as

a result of that tension, he just reacted in a certain fashion, and that was all there was to it.

“Now, this is a terrible thing. I am not trying to minimize the thing that happened, nor am I trying to tell you that it is a small matter. It is a matter of deep concern, and I have said—and I repeat right at the outset—that we are not asking you, in any manner, to release this boy on society. That has never been our intention. * * *

(Tr. 209, 210, 211.)

“* * * Now, we have raised this question of insanity, not for any purpose of releasing this boy on society—a 19-year-old boy.

“Counsel comes in and he yells for blood. He wants you, ladies and gentlemen, to forget all Christian principles that you have. He wants you to revert to the old savage Mosiac law in this case, of an eye for an eye, and a tooth for a tooth. He wants to have the life of this boy. * * *

(Tr. 213.)

“* * *

“I am reading Instruction No. 17:

“‘If you find the defendant guilty of murder in the first degree, it will then be your duty to determine whether you will recommend that he be imprisoned for life at hard labor. If you do not make this recommendation, the court, under the law, has no alternative but to impose a sentence of death. If you do make this recommendation, the court is given the discretion of sentencing defendant either to life imprisonment at hard labor or death.’

“In other words, his Honor himself would take upon himself that responsibility.

“‘The making or withholding of the foregoing recommendation is a matter entirely within your

discretion to be exercised in any manner and for any reason you see fit, and you must not take anything that may or may not have been said or done by this court as any intimation of the court as to what should or should not control or influence you in reaching a conclusion on this matter.'

"Now, we are confronted with, what are we going to do? I have said, and repeat, that we, in no way, want you, or desire that you, should turn this boy loose on society; * * *

"He has said—his Honor has told you in this instruction that you can make than recommendation.
* * *

(Tr. 214, 215.)

"* * *

"It isn't much I am asking for. We are not asking—I repeat again—asking you to turn this boy loose, but I am asking you to give her just a ray of hope—that which the Master gave all of us—that she might, on Christmas morning, have a hope of life. It may be life behind four walls and for the rest of his life; and that in itself—that is your prerogative; but, again, I plead with you to give this boy—to spare his life—if not for his sake, for the sake of this boy's mother, who has already been through a thousand hells as she sat here. * * *"

(Tr. 217.)

Wayne L. Black, Esq.:

"* * *

"Counsel makes another remark that I want to refer to: 'If you acquit him, he will be turned loose.' That is as far from the fact as anything that could possibly be said in this court here today. Counsel knows, and you know, that determination of insanity—determinations of whether a person should be

incarcerated in mental institutions—are matters for the court, to be determined according to the court's dictates and the court's decisions.

"I say to you, there isn't anything this jury can do today that would turn this boy loose on society. There is no verdict you could render that would turn him loose on society. Your decision is going to determine one of three things: Either he is going to go into a mental institution—and Dr. Nelson said that this would require in-patient treatment over a long period of years; didn't you hear him say that?

"Either he is going into a mental institution, or he is going out to the State Prison for the rest of his life, or he is going to stand before a firing squad for the commission of this offense.

"Those are the three, and only three, alternatives that stand in the way of this boy's life at this cross-roads of his life. Now, I want that to be indelibly and crystally-clear before the court and jury. He is not going to be turned free on society, regardless of what anyone does.

"* * *

"Now, it is the law that, if you should return a verdict of first degree murder—and I say God forbid that you do—if you should return a verdict of first degree murder in this case, you have the further responsibility of determining whether or not to recommend leniency. If you do not recommend leniency, the court has no choice, no discretion but to sentence this boy to go out some cold, early morning, and to face a firing squad, or to face a hangman's noose. If you do recommend leniency, then, of course, the responsibility is with the court to further deliberate and determine whether his punishment shall be life imprisonment or shall be death at the hands of an executioner. * * *

(Tr. 225, 226, 227.)

So far as the pleadings and the evidence in this matter are concerned, both counsel for prosecution and defense were probably "out of bounds." From the entire proceedings and remarks made it is evident that the jury could not have possibly been misled and the defendant's cause was not prejudiced.

We contend that the evidence of defendant's guilt and sanity was so clear and convincing that no reasonable jury could be expected to return a different verdict, even in the absence of the irregularities, and the error complained of, if any, was harmless. *State v. St. Clair*, 3 Utah 2d 230, 244, 282 P. 2d 323, 332. If this is not a case where capital punishment should be imposed, then such punishment might well be eliminated from our statute books.

CONCLUSION

The verdict should be permitted to stand.